A. INTRODUCTION 

Knowing that the prosecution's policy was to withdraw plea 

offers if a defense attorney interviewed complaining witnesses who 

alleged sexual offenses, Ervin Cox's attorney did not interview the two 

complainants before advising Mr. Cox to plead guilty. He conducted no 

other known investigation even though the incidents allegedly occurred 

years earlier, both complainants were adults, and Mr. Cox said they 

were lying from the inception of the case. 

Mr. Cox followed counsel's advice and entered an Alfori plea 

once threatened with a far longer sentence. But one day later, he asked 

to withdraw the plea. The court refused, ruling that it was never 

unreasonable for defense counsel to advise a client to plead guilty in 

exchange for a favorable plea offer, even if the attorney had not been 

permitted to investigate the allegations. The court refused to hold an 

evidentiary hearing or order defense counsel to explain how he had 

evaluated the strength of the State's case absent an investigation. Mr. 

Cox is entitled to withdraw his Alford plea because he did not receive 

effective assistance of counsel prior to entering his plea. 

I North Carolina v. Afford, 400 U.S . 25,91 S.Ct. 160,27 L.Ed.2d 162 
(1970). 



B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Mr. Cox did not receive effective assistance of counsel prior 

to pleading guilty, in violation of the Sixth Amendment and article I, 

section 22 of the Washington Constitution. 

2. The court erred by refusing to hold an evidentiary hearing 

when it received no information from defense counsel explaining his 

basis to advise Mr. Cox to pled guilty. CP 30. 

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The right to effective assistance of counsel prior to entering a 

guilty plea includes the right to receive the attorney's informed advice 

about the strength of the State's case. While interviewing the State's 

witnesses is not always required, numerous cases use the lack of 

witness interviews to find an attorney's deficient performance. Pursuant 

to a blanket policy of the prosecution, Mr. Cox's lawyer did not 

interview the complainants even though Mr. Cox claimed they were 

lying. When it is uncontested that defense counsel did not interview the 

witnesses, there is no physical evidence, the attorney only met with Mr. 

Cox one time in private, and no other investigation occurred, did Mr. 

Cox receive effective assistance of counsel? 

2 



2. A person's request to withdraw a guilty plea based on having 

received ineffective assistance of counsel is a fact-specific inquiry into 

whether the attorney reasonably investigated the allegations and 

accurately advised the accused of the law. Here, the court refused to 

hold an evidentiary hearing or order defense counsel to give any 

explanation of the nature of his investigation or basis of his advice that 

Mr. Cox plead guilty. When the uncontested allegations show no 

defense investigation occurred and the defendant maintained his 

innocence even when pleading guilty, was there sufficient evidence 

showing it was unreasonable for defense counsel to conduct no 

investigation? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In November 2012, AL. and S.D., both adults, told the police 

that years earlier they had been subjected to sexual contact by Ervin 

Cox. CP 131-32. AL. said it happened only once, sometime between 

2006 and 2007, and S.D. said it happened several times between 2005 

and 2007. CP 128-29. Mr. Cox told the police the allegations were false 

and the complainants concocted them. CP 129. Mr. Cox's wife, who 

was AL. 's mother and S.D. 's grandmother, made it "very clear" to the 
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police that she did not believe A.L. or S.D. Id. The State charged Mr. 

Cox with two counts of child molestation in the second degree. CP 131. 

Mr. Cox was 65 years old at the time the charges were filed. CP 

107. Four days after it filed the charges, the prosecution told defense 

counsel that if Mr. Cox pled guilty as charged, it would recommend a 

36-month standard range sentence, but if he did not accept this offer, it 

would file an amended information adding three felony charges. CP 33, 

52,56-57. IfMr. Cox was convicted of these additional charges, his 

standard sentence would be "an indeterminate sentence with a 

minimum between 210-280 months and a maximum of life." CP 33. 

The prosecution's office had a policy that if defense counsel 

interviewed the complaining witnesses in a child sexual assault case, it 

would not engage in plea negotiations. 8/13/13RP 6-7. Here, the 

prosecutor told defense counsel to trust his judgment that one of the 

complainants was "compelling" as a witness. CP 54. Defense counsel 

did not interview either complaining witness, presumably due to the 

State's policy, even though both complainants were adults at the time 

the charges were filed. 8/13/13RP 7; CP 88, 92. Defense counsel did 

not conduct any other investigation. CP 92. He met one time privately 
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and in-person with Mr. Cox. CP 92. He told Mr. Cox to plead guilty or 

risk more serious charges. Id. 

Mr. Cox agreed to enter an Alford plea to the two charges. 

4/30/13RP 2; CP 107, 113. The court accepted his plea after 

questioning him about his understanding of the plea and awareness of 

the rights he was waiving. 4/30/13RP 2-7. The next day, Mr. Cox sent a 

letter to the judge asking to "reconsider" and withdraw his plea. CP 

125. He explained he felt threatened and confused. Id. The court 

appointed an attorney to determine whether Mr. Cox wanted to 

formally request to withdraw his plea. 6/6/13RP 7-8,15. 

The newly appointed attorney filed a motion to withdraw the 

plea based on the original attorney's deficient performance. CP 86-93. 

He explained that the first lawyer had conducted no investigation and 

spent little time with Mr. Cox. CP 88. 92. The court refused to hold an 

evidentiary hearing or require defense counsel to explain what actions 

he took in the case. CP 30 (attached as Appendix A). It ruled that 

failing to interview witnesses was reasonable when an interview would 

result in more serious charges. Id. After denying Mr. Cox's motion to 

withdraw his guilty plea, the court imposed a standard range sentence 

of 39 months. 9/4/13RP 10. 

5 



E. ARGUMENT. 

Mr. Cox should have been allowed to withdraw his 
Alford plea when the plea resulted from his 
attorney's failure to perform the basic investigation 
necessary to evaluate the State's case 

1. A guilty plea is not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary when 
premised on the State's insistence that the attorney may not 
investigate the allegations. 

A criminal defendant's waiver of his right to trial by jury and 

entry of a guilty plea must be an intentional relinquishment of a known 

right, indulging in every presumption against waiver. Johnson v. Zerbst, 

304 US. 458,464,58 S.Ct. 1019,82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938); US. Const. 

amends. 6, 14. An involuntarily entered plea establishes a manifest 

injustice permitting withdrawal of the plea. State v. Turley, 149 Wn.2d 

395,398,69 P.3d 338 (2003); CrR 4.2(f). 

A defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel in the 

process of plea negotiation. Missouri v. Frye, _ US. _, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 

1405-06, 182 L.Ed.2d 379 (2012). "If a plea bargain has been offered, a 

defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel in considering 

whether to accept it." Lafler v. Cooper, _US. _, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1387, 

182 L. Ed. 2d 398 (2012). 
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At the plea bargaining stage, "defendants cannot be presumed to 

make critical decisions without counsel's advice." Id. at 1385. 

Ineffective assistance of counsel occurs when "counsel's representation 

fell below an objective standard of reasonableness," and "there is a 

reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the 

result of the proceeding would have been different." !d. at 1384 

(quoting Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 

80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). 

A client's intent to plead guilty does not excuse a lawyer from 

adequately investigating the case or pursuing available avenues of 

relief. State v. A.NJ, 168 Wn.2d 91,113,116,118,225 P.3d 956 

(2010). "Anything less" than effective representation during plea 

bargaining "might deny a defendant' effective representation by 

counsel at the only stage when legal aid and advice would help him. ", 

Frye, 132 S. Ct. at 1407-08 (quoting inter alia Spano v. New York, 360 

U.S. 315, 326, 79 S.Ct. 1202,3 L.Ed.2d 1265 (1959) (Douglas, J., 

concurring)). 

Denial of effective assistance of counsel is one way to establish 

a manifest injustice requiring a court to permit plea withdrawal. A.NJ., 

168 Wn.2d at 119. A trial cOUli's denial of a motion to withdraw a plea 
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is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Williams, 117 

Wn.App. 390, 398, 71 P.3d 686 (2003), rev. denied, 151 Wn.2d 1011 

(2004). But an ineffective assistance claim is reviewed de novo because 

it presents mixed questions oflaw and fact. A.NJ, 168 Wn.2d at 109. 

2. Evaluating the State's evidence is a fundamental 
requirement of competent attorney performance 

To provide constitutionally adequate representation, defense 

counsel must at a minimum, conduct a reasonable investigation 

enabling informed decisions about how best to represent the client. In 

re Pers. Restraint of Fleming, 142 Wn.2d 853,866,16 P.3d 610 (2001) 

(citing Sanders V. Ratelle, 21 F.3d 1446,1456 (9th Cir.1994». 

"[A] defendant's counsel cannot properly evaluate the merits of 

a plea offer without evaluating the State's evidence." A.NJ., 168 Wn.2d 

at 109. Based on an attorney's "duty to assist a defendant in evaluating 

a plea offer," and "making an informed decision as to whether to plead 

guilty or to proceed to trial," 

at the very least, counsel must reasonably evaluate the 
evidence against the accused and the likelihood of a 
conviction if the case proceeds to trial so that the 
defendant can make a meaningful decision as to whether 
or not to plead guilty. 

Id. at 111-12 (citing inter alia RPC 1.1; RPC 1.2(a» . 
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It is "dysfunctional" for the prosecution to create a system 

premised on the disincentive of defense counsel investigating a client's 

case. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d at 112. Similarly, "[a] defendant is denied his 

right to counsel if the actions of the prosecution deny the defendant's 

attorney the opportunity to prepare for trial. Such preparation includes 

the right to make a full investigation of the facts and law applicable to 

the case." State v. Burri, 87 Wn.2d 175,180,550 P.2d 507 (1976). 

Interviewing witnesses is an essential part of a reasonable 

investigation. State v. Zhao, 157 Wn.2d 188,205, 137 P.3d 835 (2010) 

(Sanders, J. concurring). When a lawyer relies on someone else's 

rendition of a critical witness's statement, he or she abdicates the 

"professional judgment" at the root of evaluating a witness's claims. 

A witness's testimony consists not only of the words he speaks 
or the story he tells, but of his demeanor and reputation. A 
witness who appears shifty or biased and testifies to X may 
persuade the jury that not-X is true, and along the way cast 
doubt on every other piece of evidence proffered by the lawyer 
who puts him on the stand. But counsel cannot make such 
judgments about a witness without looking him in the eye and 
hearing him tell his story. 

Lord v. Wood, 184 F.3d 1083, 1095 (9th Cir. 1999). Although a lawyer 

is not constitutionally obligated to conduct in-person interviews, when 

a lawyer has not participated in witness interviews, his decisions "will 
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be entitled to less deference than ifhe interviews the witness." /d. at 

n.8; State v. Mankin, 158 Wn.App. 111,123-24,241 P.3d 4217 (2010) 

("the right to adequate trial preparation includes the right to interview 

witnesses in advance of trial"); see also In re Pers. Restraint of Davis, 

152 Wn.2d 647, 739,101 P.3d 1 (2004) ("While defense counsel is not 

required to interview every possible witness, the failure to interview 

witnesses who may provide corroborating testimony may constitute 

deficient performance. "). 

In A.NJ., the court held that the defendant received ineffective 

assistance of counsel when entering a guilty plea because "taken 

together," counsel had not interviewed witnesses, his "contractual 

constraints" gave him an incentive not to interview witnesses, he spent 

"limited time with his client before the plea," and had spent "limited 

time" explaining the statement on plea of guilty. A.NJ., 168 Wn.2d at 

117. Similar deficiencies occurred in the case at bar. The prosecutor 

explained his office's "general position" in all sexual assault 

prosecutions is that no further plea offers will be made when an accused 

person subjects the complaining witnesses to a defense interview. 

8/13/13RP 6-7. The prosecution agreed that defense counsel had not 

interviewed the complainants before Mr. Cox pled guilty. Id. at 7; see 

10 



CP 54 (email from prosecutor to defense counsel, saying "I realize you 

haven't interviewed witnesses to assess their testimony" but assuring 

counsel that one complainant was compelling). 

Mr. Cox similarly asserted that the defense conducted no 

interviews "of the witnesses or alleged victims." CP 88. Defense 

counsel "rarely met" with Mr. Cox. CP 88. Mr. Cox never met any 

investigator and was never informed that any investigation occurred. 

CP 88, 92. Without an investigation, counsel was not in a position to 

meaningfully advise Mr. Cox about the strengths and weaknesses of the 

State's case. Mr. Cox claimed the accusers were lying because they 

wanted to kick him out of his home and take his job. CP 75-76. Even 

though Mr. Cox and his wife challenged the truthfulness of the 

allegations at the inception of the case, defense counsel had no basis to 

evaluate the believability of the complaining witnesses before advising 

Mr. Cox whether to accept the plea offer, other than relying on the 

prosecution's assessment. CP 128-29. 

The State's policy barring interviews with the complaining 

witnesses made little sense in the case at bar. The two charges arose 

from alleged incidents during the broadly defined period of 2005-2007, 

but no charges were filed until November 30,2012. CP 131. The 
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complainants were adults at the time the case proceeded in superior 

court. CP 88. The accusers' credibility and ability to recall would be the 

central issue in the case, there was no evidence other than their 

allegations, and yet defense counsel never exercised his professional 

judgment in evaluating the claims against Mr. Cox before advising him 

to plead guilty. 

"[E]ven the most skillful of defendants cannot make an 

intelligent choice without knowledge of all facts material to the 

decision." State v. Silva, 108 Wn.App. 536,541,31 P.3d 729 (2001). 

Mr. Cox was not an experienced litigant, having no substantial 

familiarity with the criminal justice system. His attorney performed no 

known investigation. CP 88, 92. Counsel advised Mr. Cox to plead 

guilty without being able to meaningfully evaluate the evidence against 

his client. Given the accusations that the complaining witnesses lacked 

credibility that arose from the outset of the case, the time that passed 

between the claimed incident and the report to the police, and the 

clearly established professional norms that make investigating a case a 

fundamental duty of counsel, the lack of investigation constituted 

unreasonable performance. 

12 



3. The trial court unreasonably refused to hold an 
evidentiary hearing to determine whether defense 
counsel's failure to investigate the allegations 
constituted deficient performance. 

In A.NJ., the Supreme Court explained that the inquiry into 

whether defense counsel's failure to investigate the allegations 

constitutes deficient performance is fact-specific. 168 Wn.2d. at 108-

12. The A.NJ. Court evaluated the type of investigation performed by 

defense counsel to determine whether defense counsel complied with 

his duty to reasonably evaluate the evidence against the accused. Id. at 

112. 

Mr. Cox claimed defense counsel's inadequate investigation 

caused him to plead guilty. CP 91-93. It was undisputed that defense 

counsel had not interviewed the complaining witnesses. The 

prosecution insisted that its policy was to revoke plea bargain offers if 

the defense interviewed the complaining witness in any case involving 

a sex offense. 8/13/13RP 6-7. Defense counsel would not provide any 

further information about his investigation or the reasons he advised 

Mr. Cox to plead guilty without a court order. CP 36. 

Yet the trial court refused to hold an evidentiary hearing to 

inquire into the reasonableness of defense counsel's investigation. CP 
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30 (attached as App. A). It did not order defense counsel to explain the 

nature of his investigation or the information on which he relied to 

advise Mr. Cox to plead guilty, even though there was no evidence that 

defense counsel had interviewed witnesses or conducted other 

investigation into the claims that his client said were false at the outset. 

The court ruled that as a matter oflaw, it was not unreasonable 

for an attorney to choose not to interview witnesses in order to take 

advantage of a favorable plea offer. CP 30. But this plea offer would 

only be "favorable" to the client if counsel's advice was premised on a 

meaningful evaluation of the strength of the evidence against Mr. Cox. 

For example, in a recent case finding a systemic violation of the 

right to counsel by a municipal court public defender, the City claimed 

that the benefits of receiving a favorable plea offer outweighed the 

accused persons' interest in a better-prepared defense attorney. Wilber 

v. City olMt. Vernon, et ai, 2013 WL 6275319, *4 (W.D. Wash. 

2013). But the federal district court rejected that notion and explained, 

"[a]dvising a client to take a fantastic plea deal ... may appear to be 

effective advocacy, but not if the client is innocent." Jd.2 

2 Citation to this opinion is pennissible pursuant to RAP 10.4(h), GR 
14.1 (b), and FRAP 32.1. 
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Based on the information presented to the trial court, there 

was no factual basis for the court to conclude that counsel's 

performance had been reasonable. Counsel had not investigated the 

case, he met with Mr. Cox in person and in private only one time and 

otherwise spent only a limited time discussing the case with Mr. Cox, 

and he knew that Mr. Cox maintained his innocence by agreeing only to 

an Alford plea. CP 88, 92. Counsel also knew that the charged offenses 

had occurred many years earlier, they were not timely reported to law 

enforcement, and Mr. Cox claimed the complainants had ulterior 

motives for accusing him. CP 75-76; CP 131. The court abused its 

discretion by failing to conduct an inquiry into the apparent deficiency 

of counsel's pre-plea efforts and advice to his client. The court's 

mistaken belief that taking a favorable plea bargain necessarily excuses 

the failure to investigate any necessary investigation occurred in the 

case at bar was a legally erroneous ruling that requires reversal. 
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4. Mr. Cox demonstrated that counsel's deficient 
performance caused him to enter a guilty plea without 
receiving effective assistance of counsel. 

A defendant sufficiently proves he was prejudiced by his 

attorney's unreasonable advice if there is a "reasonable probability" that 

but for counsel's errors, he would not have entered this plea. Hill v. 

Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L. Ed .2d 203 (1985); 

Statev. Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d 163,174-75,249 P.3d 1015 (2011). 

A "reasonable probability exists if the defendant 'convince[s] 

the court that a decision to reject the plea bargain would have been 

rational under the circumstances. ,,, Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d at 174-75 

(quoting Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 u.S. 356, 372, l30 S.Ct. 1473, 176 

L.Ed.2d 284 (2010)). "This standard of proof is 'somewhat lower' than 

the common 'preponderance of the evidence' standard." Id. at 175 

(citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694). 

Defense counsel's disregard of his professional obligation to 

evaluate the strength of the State's case before advising his client to 

plead undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial and prejudiced 

Mr. Cox. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. 

Mr. Cox immediately asked to withdraw his Alford plea as soon 

as he entered it. In the Alford plea, he did not admit his guilt; instead he 
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maintained his innocence but felt that he would not be able to prevail at 

trial. An Alford plea requires closer scrutiny because the accused has 

not admitted guilt. See In re Pers. Restraint of Montoya, 109 Wn.2d 

270,277-78, 744 P.2d 340 (1987) ("When a defendant makes an Alford 

plea, the trial cOUli must exercise extreme care to ensure that the plea 

satisfies constitutional requirements."). These actions show Mr. Cox 

did not wish to plead guilty but did so because he felt he had no choice. 

He immediately regretted the decision and persisted in his efforts to 

withdraw his plea. 

The strength of the State's case does not appear overwhelming. 

No physical evidence or corroborative, neutral eyewitnesses supported 

the allegations. The complainants waited a number of years to report 

the allegations to the police. Complainant A.L. had made the same 

allegation in 2009 but then she never appeared for a scheduled 

interview and the prosecution refused to bring charges based on the 

lack of evidence. CP 128. Mr. Cox insisted that both complainants had 

motives to lie. CP 75-76. There is a reasonable probability that if 

counsel had investigated the case, interviewed the complainants, and 

spent more time discussing the accusations with Mr. Cox, he would not 
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have entered a guilty plea. This case should be remanded so that Mr. 

Cox is afforded the opportunity to withdraw his plea. 

F. CONCLUSION. 

Based on the undisputed allegations that defense counsel never 

investigated the strength of the State's case, Mr. Cox should be 

permitted the opportunity to withdraw his guilty plea or alternatively, 

the court should order an evidentiary hearing to determine the 

reasonableness of counsel's performance and its prejudicial effect.