NO. 70927-5-I

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. THE DEFENDANT HAS NOT ESTABLISHED THAT HIS GUILTY PLEA RESULTED FROM INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The defendant challenges the denial of his motion to withdraw his guilty plea. "The court shall allow a defendant to withdraw his plea of guilty whenever it appears that the withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice." CrR 4.2(f). A "manifest injustice" is one that is "obvious, directly observable, overt, not

obscure." This imposes a "demanding standard" on the defendant. State v. Osborne, 102 Wn.2d 87, 97, 684 P.2d 683 (1984). Here, the defendant claims that he received ineffective assistance of counsel. This claim, if established, would give rise to a "manifest injustice" warranting withdrawal of his plea. <u>Id.</u>

In the context of plea bargaining, effective assistance requires that counsel actually and substantially assist his client in deciding whether to plead guilty. Id. at 99.

[The defendant] bears the burden of showing that (1) his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and, if so, (2) that counsel's poor work prejudiced him. While generally the trial judge's decision on whether to allow a defendant to withdraw a guilty plea is reviewed for abuse of discretion, because claims of ineffective assistance of counsel present mixed questions of law and fact, we review them de novo.

State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn 2d 91, 109 ¶ 24, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). The defendant here cannot satisfy either element of ineffective assistance.

1. When A Plea Offer Is Conditioned On Foregoing Interviews With Complaining Witnesses, Defense Counsel Can Properly Decide To Postpone Such Interviews Until After His Client Decides Whether To Accept The Offer.

On appeal, the defendant asserts only one area of deficient performance: failing to interview the complaining witnesses. Before advising a client on whether to plead guilty, an attorney must "reasonably evaluate the evidence against the accused and the likelihood of a conviction if the case proceeds to trial." <a href="Id.">Id.</a> at 111 ¶ 27. There are, however, no rigid rules governing the scope of such an investigation.

No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Any such set of rules would interfere with the constitutionally protected independence of counsel and restrict the wide latitude counsel must have in making tactical decisions

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-89, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Counsel is entitled to make reasonable professional judgments about the scope of investigation. <u>Id.</u> at 691. "The degree and extent of investigation required will vary depending upon the issues and facts of each case..." <u>A.N.J.</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 111 ¶ 27. Counsel's actions can be considered deficient only if they fall "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690.

In the present case, counsel's decision about the scope of investigation had to take into account a critical factor. As the parties agreed, the Prosecutor's Office has a general policy of not engaging in plea negotiations with defendants who choose to

interview the complaining witnesses in cases involving sexual assaults against minors. At the hearing on the motion to withdraw the plea, defense counsel acknowledged that this policy was well known. 8/13 RP 7. In light of this policy, a decision to interview those witnesses was effectively a rejection of the plea offer.

Under these circumstances, defense counsel may well have had a *duty* to discuss the plea offer with the defendant *before* interviewing the complaining witnesses. "[A]s a general rule, defense counsel has the duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions that may be favorable to the accused." Missouri v. Frye, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1408, 182 L.Ed.2d 379 (2012). Such a duty is explicitly recognized in the Washington ethical rules. RPC 1.4, comment [2].

Here, counsel had received a formal offer to resolve the case with a plea to two counts of second degree child molestation. The State offered to recommend 36 months' confinement, based on a standard range of 31-41 months. The State reserved, however, the right to withdraw this offer at any time prior to a guilty plea. CP 52. If the offer was not accepted, the State intended to file an amended information adding a charge of second degree rape of a child, plus two additional counts of second degree child

molestation. CP 56-57. Conviction on these charges would have resulted in an indeterminate life term, with a minimum range of 210-280 months. CP 54.

It was counsel's duty to communicate this offer to his client and advise him on whether to accept it. To do so, he needed to forgo attempts to interview the complaining witnesses. Under the prosecutor's policy, such interviews would have led to withdrawal of the offer – thereby making it impossible to accept.

Far from being ineffective, counsel's actions may have been mandatory under these circumstances. If he had proceeded to interview the witnesses, this would in effect have been a rejection of the plea offer. The defendant could then legitimately complain that counsel never gave him the opportunity to accept a favorable plea offer. As in <a href="Frye">Frye</a>, such conduct could amount to ineffective assistance: "When defense counsel allowed the offer to expire without advising the defendant or allowing him to consider it, defense counsel did not render the effective assistance the Constitution requires." <a href="Frye">Frye</a>, 132 S.Ct. at 1408.

The defendant argues that the prosecutor's policy prevented him from rendering effective assistance. "[T]he hallmark of a Sixth Amendment ineffective assistance of counsel claim is based on the substandard performance of the criminal defendant's attorney, not on the actions of third parties." Accordingly, a prosecutor's failure to provide discovery does not render counsel constitutionally ineffective. State v. Greiff, 141 Wn.2d 910, 925, 10 P.3d 390 (2000).

Both federal and state courts have upheld similar policies by prosecutors. The United States Supreme Court has held that prosecutors can properly require, as a condition of a plea agreement, that defendants waive their right to receive impeachment materials or information concerning affirmative defenses. Such a policy does not render a plea involuntary:

Of course, the more information the defendant has, the more aware he is of the likely consequences of a plea, waiver, or decision, and the wiser that decision will likely be. But the Constitution does not require the prosecutor to share all useful information with the defendant. And the law ordinarily considers a waiver knowing, intelligent, and sufficiently aware if the defendant fully understands the nature of the right and how it would likely apply *in general* in the circumstances-even though the defendant may not know the *specific detailed* consequences of invoking it

<u>United States v. Ruiz</u>, 536 U.S. 622, 629, 122 S.Ct. 2450, 153 L.Ed.2d 586 (2002) (court's emphasis, citations omitted).

Similarly, the Washington Supreme Court has upheld a prosecutor's policy of refusing to plea bargain with defendants who

demanded disclosure of the identity of a confidential informant. The court recognized the State's "legitimate interest in protecting confidential informants." The prosecutor's plea-bargaining policy was a proper effort to protect that interest. State v. Moen, 150 Wn.2d 221, 230-31, 76 P.3d 721 (2003). Relying on Moen, this court held that such a policy did not preclude defense counsel from providing effective assistance. State v. Shelmidine, 166 Wn. App. 107, 115-16 ¶¶ 19-20, 269 P.3d 362, review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1006 (2012).

In short, counsel had a legitimate tactical reason for withholding interviews of the complaining witnesses until after he discussed the plea offer with a defendant. Such action was necessary to ensure that the offer would remain open. Confronted with this situation, the defendant decided that he was better off accepting the plea offer rather than proceeding with further investigation. His hindsight regrets do not give him the right to withdraw his plea. Counsel's performance was not deficient.

## 2. Even When Counsel's Lack Of Investigation Is Considered Deficient, The Defendant Cannot Establish Prejudice Without Showing What Facts An Investigation Would Have Produced.

Even if counsel's investigation were considered inadequate, that would not be sufficient to establish prejudice. The defendant

must show that "there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted in going to trial." State v. Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d 163, 249 P.3d 1015 (2011); Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985).

[W]here the alleged error of counsel is a failure to investigate or discover potentially exculpatory evidence, the determination whether the error "prejudiced" the defendant by causing him to plead guilty rather than go to trial will depend on the likelihood that discovery of the evidence would have led counsel to change his recommendation as to the plea. This assessment, in turn, will depend in large part on a prediction whether the evidence likely would have changed the outcome of a trial

<u>Hill</u>, 474 U.S. at 59. In the present case, there is no showing of *any* additional evidence that could have been discovered by additional investigation.

The defendant argues that "[t]he strength of the State's case does not appear overwhelming." Brief of Appellant at 17. That fact, of course, was well known to counsel and the defendant at the time of the plea. It is probably the reason why the State was prepared to make a comparatively-lenient plea offer. "[A] defendant seeking relief under a 'failure to investigate' theory must show a reasonable likelihood that the investigation would have produced useful

information not already known to defendant's trial counsel." In re Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 739, 101 P.3d 1 (2004). In the present case, no such showing has been made. Consequently, the defendant has not carried his burden of establishing prejudice.

# B. ABSENT A PRIMA FACIE SHOWING OF ENTITLEMENT TO RELIEF, A DEFENDANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA.

The defendant also claims that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Under CrR 4.2(f), the defendant bears the burden of showing that withdrawal of a guilty plea is necessary to correct a manifest injustice. Osborne, 102 Wn.2d at 97. "In general, the burden is on a moving party to come forward with sufficient facts to warrant the exercise of discretion in his or her favor." State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d 531, 539 ¶ 17, 295 P.3d 219 (2013). An evidentiary hearing may be required if the defendant makes a prima facie showing of entitlement to relief. State v. Jackson, 75 Wn. App. 537, 543-44, 879 P.2d 307 (1994) (motion for new trial based on juror bias).

The defendant claims that "[d]efense counsel would not provide any further information about his investigation or the reasons he advised Mr. Cox to plead guilty with a court order." Brief

of Appellant at 13, citing CP 36. The cited portion of the record is from the prosecutor's memorandum. It states that the attorney's law firm had a policy against their attorneys discussing their actions without "a signed court order declaring that the attorney-client privilege has been waived." This appears to refer to efforts by the *prosecutor* to obtain such information. The defendant, as the client, could waive the privilege. <u>Dietz v. Doe</u>, 131 Wn.2d 835, 850, 935 P.2d 611 (1997); see RPC 1.6(a). If the attorney had insisted on a court order, the defendant could have sought entry of such an order. Nothing in the record indicates that the defendant made any attempt to obtain information from his former attorney.

The evidence offered by the defendant did not make a prima facie showing of entitlement to relief. It was insufficient to establish either deficient performance of counsel or resulting prejudice. The evidence also did not establish that the plea was involuntary. Under such circumstances, the court was not required to hold any further hearing.

#### V. CONCLUSION